IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

F.W. CUMMINGS-EL,

Appellant,

vs.

FSC case no. 01-1501

Lower case no. F91-33268

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

-----/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TONY MOSS, ESQUIRE
LAW OFFICE OF TONY MOSS,
P.A.
FLA. BAR NO. 0646318
851 N.E. 118TH STREET
MIAMI, FL 33161
(305) 891-5771

SARA D. BAGGETT, ESQUIRE
FLA. BAR NO. 0857238
2311 23RD WAY
WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33407
(561) 683-0666

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, F.W. CUMMINGS-EL, was the defendant in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "Appellant" or by his proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the petitioner in the trial court below and will be referred to herein as "the State." Reference to the original record on appeal will be by the symbol "PL" for the single volume of separately-paginated pleadings, followed by the appropriate page number(s), and "TR" for the six volumes of sequentially-paginated transcripts, followed by the appropriate volume and

page number(s). Reference to the post-conviction record on appeal will be by the symbol "PCR" for the four volumes of pleadings, followed by the appropriate volume and page number(s), and "PCRS" for the supplemental record (eight volumes of transcripts), followed by the appropriate volume and page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Miami-Dade Police Department arrested Appellant, F.W. Cummings-El on September 16, 1991, for the first-degree murder of Kathy Williams Good and for the armed burglary of Daisy Adams' home, allegedly committed earlier that morning. (TR I 1). Eighteen days later, on October 4, 1991, the State charged Appellant by information with the second-degree murder of Kathy Williams Good.¹ (TR I 1-2, 3). On December 4, 1991, upon certification of conflict by the Public Defender's Office, Judge Ralph Person appointed Theodore Mastos to represent Mr. Cummings-El in this cause. (TR I 42-43). Six months after his arrest, on March 17, 1992, the State obtained a grand jury indictment against Mr. Cummings-El for the first-degree murder of Kathy Williams Good and the armed burglary of Daisy Adams' home. (TR I 4-5).

Thirteen months after his appointment, and three weeks before trial, Mr. Mastos informed the trial court, the Honorable Joseph Farina, that he had done nothing to prepare for the penalty phase of the case, and had yet to hire an investigator, because Appellant did not want anyone begging for his life.

¹ It did not charge him with the armed burglary of Daisy Adams' home, wherein Ms. Good was residing at the time of her death.

(E.H. Exh. #8 at 4-6).² Given his client's position, Mr. Mastos asked the court to question Appellant about his decision not to call penalty phase witnesses on his behalf. Both Mr. Mastos and the prosecutor also asked that Mr. Cummings-El undergo a psychiatric evaluation to ensure that he was competent to waive mitigation. In response to the court's questioning, Appellant indicated on two separate occasions that Mr. Mastos was welcome to contact his family members or anyone else he wanted to contact regarding mitigation, but that he (Appellant) did not want his family begging for his life because he was innocent of the charges. (E.H. Exh. #8 at 6, 13).

Also during the discussion, Appellant complained that Mr. Mastos had not scheduled an Arthur³ hearing in his case. (E.H. Exh. #8 at 14-15). Mr. Mastos conceded that his client had requested one and that he had not scheduled one, because in his opinion "it would be a complete and total waste of time. There is absolutely no judge in the system that when given [the

² As discussed in Appellant's simultaneously filed habeas petition, the transcripts of this hearing were never included in Appellant's direct appeal record. The State introduced them into evidence at Appellant's evidentiary hearing as State's Exhibit #8.

³ State v. Arthur, 390 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1980) (affirming trial court's discretion to grant or deny bail for person accused of offense punishable by life, or capital offense, when proof of guilt is evident or presumption great).

witnesses' depositions or sworn statements] is going to find proof not evident, nor presumption great." (E.H. Exh. #8 at 17).

Following Mr. Mastos' comments regarding the undeniable strength of the State's case, Appellant vehemently requested that the court discharge his attorney because "it don't appear to me he's working on my best interest, but working with the prosecutor." (E.H. Exh. #8 at 19). Appellant also complained that Mr. Mastos had only been to see him twice in the past year and was pressuring him to accept the State's plea offer to second-degree murder. (E.H. Exh. #8 at 20). When asked by the court to detail his efforts on Mr. Cummings-El's behalf, Mr. Mastos explained only that he had taken several depositions and had given copies of those depositions, as well as the police reports, to Appellant. (E.H. Exh. #8 at 20-21). The court made no ruling regarding Appellant's motion to dismiss counsel, but rather ordered the psychiatric evaluation to be completed by that Friday, at which point the court would decide on a trial date. (E.H. Exh. #8 at 22-23).

The very next day, Dr. Sanford Jacobson, a psychiatrist, met with Appellant and issued a report, finding that Appellant was "competent for legal proceedings and ha[d] sufficient present ability to communicate with counsel with a reasonable degree of

rational understanding. He possesse[d] both a rational and factual understanding of the charges." (PCR I 95). Dr. Jacobson concluded that Appellant "would not meet criteria for involuntary hospitalization." (PCR I 95). Regarding the reason for his evaluation of Appellant, i.e., Appellant's competence to waive mitigation, the doctor stated,

With respect to the defendant's feelings about family members testifying in any sentencing phase if it were necessary, I can only state that the defendant's explanation does not appear to me to be irrational or bizarre. It may not be in his best interest at this time but the defendant might, if necessary, alter that opinion or view.

I do not think individuals who make statements of this type, which appear to be somewhat less than in their best interest, should be viewed as necessarily impaired or dysfunctional mentally. It is not in my opinion a reflection of a major mental illness although it might reflect aspects of his personality which are not always operating to serve his best interest.

(PCR I 95-96). There were no further hearings or discussions prior to trial regarding Appellant's desire to waive mitigation.

Three weeks later, the trial commenced. After two days of testimony, the jury convicted Mr. Cummings-El on January 29, 1993, of first-degree murder and armed burglary as charged in the indictment. (TR I 55-56). This Court succinctly stated in its direct appeal opinion the pertinent facts that were elicited at trial:

The defendant, Fred Cummings-El dated the victim, Kathy Good, for a short period and the two lived together for several months. After the relationship ended, Cummings-El harassed Good and she eventually obtained a restraining order after he assaulted her at a neighbor's house. He then made numerous verbal threats, such as: "Kathy, I'm going to kill you. Kathy, I'm going to kill you[]"; and "I love her. If I can't have her, nobody [can] have her"; and finally "If I can't have you, ain't nobody going to have you."

Cummings-El broke into Good's home in the early morning hours of September 16, 1991, and stabbed her several times while she was sleeping, killing her. Several people heard Good's screams and saw Cummings-El at the scene. Good's eight year-old son, Tadarius, was asleep in bed with his mother and awoke to see Cummings-El "punching" his mother. Good's twenty year-old nephew, Michael Adams, was asleep on the floor of Good's bedroom and saw Cummings-El fleeing from the house. And Good's mother, Daisy Adams, confronted Cummings-El as he was leaving the bedroom. Cummings-El, whose face was only one or two feet from Daisy's, shoved Daisy to the ground and ran. Good then staggered from the bedroom and collapsed in her mother's arms, saying "Fred, Fred."

Cummings-El v. State, 684 So.2d 729, 730-31 (Fla. 1996).

Immediately following the jury's verdict, Mr. Mastos informed the trial court that Mr. Cummings-El was ready to proceed to the penalty phase and "[did] not wish any witnesses called." (TR VI 894). At that point, Mr. Cummings-El confirmed that he did not want to present any witnesses on his behalf,

including his sister who was in the courtroom. Concerned, however, that Mr. Cummings-El was making an emotional decision following the jury's unfavorable verdict, the trial court reset the penalty phase for the following Wednesday, five days later. (TR VI 895-901).

At the outset of that hearing, Mr. Mastos informed the court that two of Appellant's sisters and four of his children were in the courtroom, and that Appellant was allowing him to present the testimony of his two sisters. (TR VI 920-21). The State complained, however, that none of the witnesses' names had been provided in discovery, and thus it had not had an opportunity to depose them or even to speak to them. (TR VI 921). The trial court suggested that it do so over the lunch recess. (TR VI 922).

Thereafter, the State presented the testimony of Daisy and Michael Adams, the victim's mother and nephew, respectively, concerning what this Court characterized as "the duration of Good's state of consciousness after the stabbing." Cummings-El, 684 So.2d at 731; (TR VI 925-935, 935-45). The State also admitted certified copies of conviction for three violent felonies Mr. Cummings-El had previously committed. (TR VI 945-68).

Following the penalty-phase charge conference, Mr. Mastos presented the testimony of two of Mr. Cummings-El's older sisters. In an awkward and halting narrative style, Ms. Diane St. Fleur testified that she had five sisters and six brothers, three of whom had already deceased. She also testified that Mr. Cummings-El had four children of his own, who were sitting in the gallery. She indicated that she was currently caring for his four children, in addition to her own four. In Ms. St. Fleur's opinion, Appellant treated his family well, was very protective of them, and was honest and nonviolent. Although their mother couldn't be there because she had recently suffered a debilitating stroke, their family was very close, and Ms. St. Fleur asked the jury to spare Mr. Cummings-El's life. (TR VI 1004-09).

Similarly, Ms. Catherine Covington testified that Appellant was nonviolent, very nice, treated others well, and tried to be a good father to his children. She, too, wanted the jury to spare her brother's life. (TR VI 1016-21).

On cross-examination, however, the State vigorously attacked both of these witnesses' testimony. To rebut their assertions of Appellant's nonviolence, as well as his alleged financial and emotional support of his children, the State emphasized Mr. Cummings-El's convictions for violent offenses, including this

one, and his lengthy prison sentences served in North Carolina and Quincy, Florida. (TR VI 1010-14, 1021-25). It emphasized, both in cross-examination and in closing argument, that Appellant was, on the contrary, a very violent man, and that he had all but abandoned his children during their lifetime. (TR VI 1050-51).

Following closing arguments and jury instructions, the jury deliberated an hour and thirty-five minutes before returning a recommendation of death by a vote of eight to four. (TR VI 1029-54, 1054-63, 1063-71, 1071-73). At final sentencing, two weeks later, Mr. Mastos declined to present additional evidence or argument, commenting that he "[didn't] think there [was] anything that could be said or done at this time." (TR VI 1077). At that point, the trial court immediately imposed a sentence of death, having come prepared with a written sentencing order. In rendering its sentence, the court found the existence of four aggravating factors: that Mr. Cummings-El had three prior violent felony convictions, that he committed the murder during an armed burglary, that he committed the murder in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner, and that he committed the murder in a heinous, atrocious or cruel manner. In assessing mitigation, the court rejected the proposed statutory mitigating factors of no significant history of prior

criminal activity and Appellant's age at the time of the offense. (TR VI 1076-83). As for nonstatutory mitigation, the trial court made the following comments:

Defendant's two sisters testified that Defendant is a loving father, comes from a close family and has strong family support. Both sisters believe Defendant isn't a violent man in spite of his three prior felony convictions.

However, unlike other trial witnesses, Defendant's sisters did not hear and see his three violent confrontations with Kathy Williams Good before he murdered her. In addition, unlike other trial witnesses, neither sister saw the Defendant running out of Kathy Williams Good's bedroom after he brutally stabbed her.

These two women testified from their hearts. Unfortunately, their family portrait of the Defendant isn't based on fact or in reality as reflected by the evidence of this case.

(TR VI 1084).

For the appeal, the trial court appointed John Lipinski to represent Mr. Cummings-El before this Court. Mr. Lipinski, a private attorney, raised the following six issues: (1) the trial court erred in excusing jurors Kozakowski and Oshinsky for cause, (2) the trial court improperly commented before the jury on Appellant's right to remain silent, (3) the trial court erred in instructing the jury on the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor, (4) the evidence did not support the trial court's finding of the HAC aggravating factor, (5) the evidence

did not support the trial court's finding of the cold, calculated and premeditated murder aggravating factor, and (6) Appellant's sentence of death was disproportionate to other cases resulting from a domestic dispute. Cummings-El, 684 So.2d at 731, n.2.

In affirming Appellant's convictions and sentence of death, this Court found that trial counsel had not preserved the first three issues for review and, as a result, it refused to consider the merits of those claims. Id. at 731. In addition, it found that the facts supported both the HAC and CCP aggravating factors, and that Appellant's sentence was not disproportionate. Id. at 732.

Following this Court's mandate, Mr. Cummings-El filed a petition for writ of certiorari in the United State's Supreme Court. That Court denied Appellant's petition on June 16, 1997. Cummings-El v. Florida, 520 U.S. 1277 (1997).

Pursuant to an order of this Court, CCRC-South was directed to file Mr. Cummings-El's post-conviction motion by June 16, 1998. On January 15, 1998, however, this Court tolled the time requirements for public records until June 1, 1998. By separate order, it also tolled the time requirement for filing the post-conviction motion in this case until June 1, 1998. Although this filing requirement was tolled twice more until June 25,

1998, and October 1, 1998, CCRC-South filed a "shell" motion on May 13, 1998. Thereafter, it announced a conflict of interest and, at the request of the Commission on Administration of Justice in Capital Cases, the chief judge in the circuit appointed Lee Weissenborn from the list of registry counsel to represent Mr. Cummings-El in his post-conviction proceedings.

Following counsel's appointment, Judge Farina held numerous status conferences and ordered the final amended 3.850 motion to be filed by May 24, 1999, with the State's response due by July 6, 1999. (PCR I 47-48). Mr. Weissenborn did, in fact, file the motion, raising the following eleven claims for relief: (1) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve the issue of the improper exclusion of jurors for cause, and for failing to object to the State's method of death qualifying the jury, (2) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call Daphne Roberts as a witness during both the guilt and penalty phases of trial, (3) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request separate verdict forms for the alternate theories of premeditation and felony murder, and for failing to object to the State's argument regarding the alternate theories, (4) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the trial court's improper comment before the jury regarding Appellant's right to remain silent, (5) trial counsel was ineffective for

failing to investigate and present evidence in mitigation, (6) the trial court improperly applied the felony murder and CCP aggravating factors because they were duplicative of the underlying theories of premeditation and felony murder, (7) the trial court improperly weighed the aggravators and mitigators, (8) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request a second chair lawyer to assist him at the trial, (9) cumulative errors deprived Appellant of a fair trial, (10) the trial court improperly considered Appellant's desire to die in imposing a sentence of death, and (11) death by electrocution is unconstitutional. (PCR I 49-77).

At the Huff hearing on July 23, 1999, Mr. Weissenborn orally amended Claim V to include a factual basis, and Judge Farina granted an evidentiary hearing on that claim. As for the other ten claims, however, it found that Claims I and II were sufficiently refuted by the record, and that Claims III, IV, and VI-XI were all procedurally barred and either legally insufficient to state a claim for relief or refuted by the record. (PCR I 78-96).

On December 28, 1999, after Judge Farina had twice rescheduled the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Cummings-El expressed dissatisfaction with Mr. Weissenborn. Thereafter, the court replaced him with Tony Moss, a registry attorney, on January 4,

2000. (PCR I 104-05). Prior to the evidentiary hearing, scheduled for the week of July 18, 2000, Mr. Moss filed a Second Amended Motion to Vacate, raising the following three claims, which were numbered sequentially from the First Amended Motion: (12) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue that the CCP aggravating factor was not appropriate in a domestic case, (13) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the cumulative testimony of Daisy and Michael Adams in the penalty phase, and (14) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to interview Appellant's mother and sister for mitigation purposes. (PCR I 112-20). Two weeks later, Mr. Moss filed a Third Amended Motion to Vacate, raising the following single claim: (15) that Tadarius Williams, the victim's son and one of the witnesses at the trial to identify Appellant as the killer, had recanted his identification post-trial in the presence of two separate witnesses. (PCR II 132-40). Finally, on July 19, 2000, Mr. Moss filed a Supplemental Argument in Support of Claim 5 of the First Amended [Motion] to Vacate, alleging the facts to support the ineffectiveness claim. (PCR II 197-204).

Following the State's responses, and a second Huff hearing on September 25, 2000, Judge Farina rejected Claim XII as procedurally barred, and Claim XIII as sufficiently refuted by the record. As requested by counsel, it considered Claim XIV as

a supplement to Claim V and included it as an issue to be raised at the evidentiary hearing. Finally, it denied Claim XV without prejudice for defense counsel to submit either a sworn affidavit or sworn testimony from Tadarius Williams himself, recanting his prior identification testimony.⁴ **App. A** at 1-7.

At the evidentiary hearing, held during the week of November 29, 2000, Mr. Cummings-El presented the testimony of the following witnesses: Catherine Wooden Covington, Appellant's second oldest sister; Catherine Wooden, Appellant's niece; Moses Poole, Appellant's assistant principal at Cutler Ridge Middle School; Dr. Lynn Schram, a neuropsychologist; Dr. Merry Haber, a forensic psychologist; Deborah Dawson, Appellant's girlfriend and mother of his four children; Frederick Dawson, Appellant's son; Dr. Bruce Frumkin, a forensic psychologist; Lyndon Dawson, Appellant's son; and Eddie Webster, a neighborhood friend. In rebuttal, the State called Dr. John Spencer, a forensic psychologist; Theodore Mastos, Appellant's original trial attorney; Dr. Jane Ansley, a forensic neuropsychologist; and Tadarius Williams, the victim's son. Following this testimony, the parties submitted memoranda of law on February 28, 2001, and

⁴ Inexplicably, this order does not appear in the record on appeal. For this Court's convenience, undersigned counsel has attached the order as an appendix to this brief, but has simultaneously moved to include it in the official record.

the trial court filed its written order denying Claim V on June 14, 2001. (PCR III 268-97, 304-31; IV 332-43). Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal on June 26, 2001. (PCR IV 346). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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