IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-1501

F.W. CUMMINGS-EL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

RICHARD E. DORAN Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441

FAX (305) 377-5654

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court properly summarily denied the claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to request the appointment of a second attorney, particularly since the argument advanced in support of this claim was not presented to the lower court.

The lower court properly summarily denied the claim of ineffective assistance during voir dire. The claim regarding the manner in which the State questioned the venire was not raised below. Moreover, the State did not act improperly. The issue of the excusal of Mr. Kozakowski is procedurally barred and without merit.

The lower court properly summarily denied the claim regarding its comment during voir dire. The comment was proper, and there is no reasonable probability of a different result at trial had an objection been made.

The lower court properly found that counsel was not ineffective for failing to investigate and present mitigation. Its factual findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence and its legal conclusions are correct.

The lower court properly denied the claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to call Ms. Roberts in the penalty phase. Her testimony would have been cumulative to evidence

already presented. The claim that this testimony would have negated CCP was not presented below and is procedurally barred.

The lower court properly summarily denied the claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the testimony of Michael and Daisy Adams at the penalty phase. The claim is procedurally barred and without merit. The claim of cumulative error was properly summarily denied.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO REQUEST THAT A SECOND LAWYER BE APPOINTED TO REPRESENT DEFENDANT.

Defendant first asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request that a second attorney be appointed to represent him. Defendant contends that a second attorney was necessary because trial counsel did nor have sufficient experience to try a capital case on his own. However, the lower court properly rejected this claim as meritless, particularly considering that the claims of inexperience were not raised below and are refuted by the record.

This Court has consistently rejected claims that counsel was ineffective for failing to request that a second attorney be appointed. State v. Riechmann, 777 So. 2d 342, 378 (Fla. 2000); Larkins v. State, 655 So. 2d 95 (Fla. 1995); Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1994). Given this Court's repeated denial of this claim, the lower court properly summarily denied it. It should be affirmed.

In a belated attempt to show that a second attorney should have been requested, Defendant asserts that his trial counsel was inexperienced. However, this rationale was not advanced in

the lower court. In the lower court, the totality of Defendant's claim in this regard was:

Regardless of what the motive of Defendant's trial counsel was in not seeking the appointment of a second defense counsel for this indigent death penalty case defendant, it was a decision that penalized Defendant with an unfair advantage from the beginning of the Guilt/Innocence phase to the final sentencing by the Court.

Had Defendant's trial counsel availed his client of this clear equalizing step, probably many of the deficiencies involved in the defense of the case would have been averted, if for no other reason but that the said defense counsel would have someone else to confer with other than a defendant who was, at least, obsessive compulsive in his wishes about how the trial should be conducted and, at most, was so mentally disturbed that some or all of the wishes he voiced as to how his trial should be conducted were self destructive.

This was a critical error in judgment on the part of the defendant's trial attorney.

(PCR. 67-68) As can be seen from the foregoing, this claim was facially insufficient and was properly summarily denied. *Riechmann*, 777 So. 2d at 378; *Armstrong; Larkins*. Moreover, the claim does not include any allegation that a second attorney was needed due to inexperience on the part of trial counsel. This Court has held that it is inappropriate to add new allegations on the appeal from the denial of a motion for post conviction relief. *Doyle v. State*, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). As such, the denial of this claim should be affirmed.

Even if the allegations of inexperience were properly before

the Court, they are not true. The record reflects that trial counsel had been an attorney for about 18 years at the time he was appointed to represent Defendant. (PCR-SR. 1702) Trial counsel had also been a county and circuit judge and had sentenced defendants to death. (PCR-SR. 1702, 1704) As an attorney, Mr. Mastos has handled hundreds of cases. (PCR-SR. 1703) As a judge, he had handled thousands. Id. As a defense attorney, Mr. Mastos tried one capital case prior to Defendant's, State v. Darvy & Harris. Both defendants in that case were acquitted. (PCR-SR. 1704) Moreover, while Defendant points to a handful of cases over which trial counsel presided as a judge, Defendant does not show how this resulted in any deficiency in counsel's performance in this case or how this resulted in a reasonable probability of a different result in this case. As such, the lower court would have properly denied this claim, had these assertions been made before it.

II. THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING VOIR DIRE WAS PROPERLY SUMMARILY DENIED.

Defendant next asserts that the trial court improperly summarily denied his claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the manner in which the State questioned the venire regarding the issue of the death penalty. He also contends that counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the excusal of Mr. Kozakowski for cause.⁵ However, the trial court properly denied this claim because of the manner in which it was actually plead below.

In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), the United States Supreme Court announced the standard under which claims of ineffective assistance must be evaluated. A petitioner must demonstrate both that counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.

Deficient performance requires a showing that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness under prevailing professional norms, and a fair

⁵ In the title of the claim, Defendant also asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the excusal of Mr. Oshinsky for cause. However, Defendant makes no argument about why the excusal of Mr. Oshinsky was erroneous or how counsel was ineffective in this regard. As such, any issue regarding the excusal of Mr. Oshinsky is not properly before this Court, as it has been waived. Anderson v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S580 (Fla. Jun. 13, 2002); Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 952 (Fla. 1990).

assessment of performance of a criminal defense attorney:

requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to conduct from counsel's evaluate the perspective at the time. . . [A] court must indulge a strong presumption that criminal defense counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance, that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy.

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694-695. The test for prejudice requires the petitioner to show that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Id.* at 694.

Here, the entirety of this claim as raised in the trial court was:

The two involved jury panel member were Mr. Kozakowski and Mr. Oshinsky.

The record shows that through extensive voir dire questioning by the prosecutor, Mr. Kozakowski leaned toward favoring life imprisonment over the death penalty, but that he could and did particularize situations where he would have no objections to recommending the death penalty. Under these circumstances, this Court should not have stricken this panelist for cause, particularly where the involved prosecutor's argument was buttressed upon Mr. Kozakowski allegedly being "totally and irrevocably", when those words were used by the prosecutor and not by the panelist.

Mr. Oshinsky's firmness in saying that he would follow the law and vote to recommend the death penalty was also challenged on voir dire by the prosecution, but this Court abruptly cut off that questioning with the remark, "There's no sense in talking with Mr. Weiser or with a number of other people, sir. We have to move on".

Thereafter the following colloquy occurred: "....Mr. Oshinsky: Which are you asking about, the reasonable doubt? Mr. Honig: Yes. Mr. Oshinsky: Well, that hasn't been asked of me. The Court: It's not needed to at this time." (T-343)

Here again Defendant's trial counsel failed to sufficiently preserve on the record his objections to the striking of these jurors, and as a result thereof----as the Supreme Court of Florida found in its decision in this case----it declined to consider the matter of the constitutional propriety of the cause striking of these two panelists.

With the death qualification voir dire process in death penalty cases in Florida already so loaded in favor of the prosecution having selected a jury predisposed to recommend death, Defendant's trial counsel should have gone down to the wire trying to prevent these two jurors from being taken off for alleged cause.

Defendant's trial counsel also was remiss by failing to adequately object during voir dire by the prosecution to its repeated and outrageous proselytizing as to its contentions as to the substance of the cause under the guise of death qualifying the prospective jurors.

(PCR. 51-53) In Ragsdale v. State, 720 So. 2d 203, 207 (Fla.

1998), this Court held "where the motion lacks sufficient factual allegations, or where alleged facts do not render the judgment vulnerable to collateral attack, the motion may be summarily denied." As such, a claim may be summarily denied where it is based merely on conclusory allegations. *Id.* As the allegations here were extremely conclusory, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim.

Moreover, as can be seen from the foregoing recitation of the claim, none of Defendant's present complaints about manner in which the State questioned the venire were raised below. Again, it is inappropriate to add new allegations on the appeal from the denial of a motion for post conviction relief. *Doyle v*. *State*, 526 So. 2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988). As such, Defendant's claims are not properly before this Court and do not show that lower court's rejection of this claim should be reversed.

Even if the allegations about the manner in which the State questioned the venire were properly before the Court, there would still be no grounds to reverse the summary denial of this claim. Defendant first faults the State for asking questions that did not track the test for cause challenges under *Wainwright v. Witt*, 469 U.S. 412 (1985). However, the State is permitted to exercise peremptory challenges against veniremembers whose view on the death penalty do not rise to the level of requiring their exclusion for cause. *San Martin v. State*, 717 So. 2d 462, 467-68 (Fla. 1998); *San Martin v. State*, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1342-43 (Fla. 1997). In order to exercise such peremptory challenges, it is necessary for the State to question

the venire about such views.

Here, the manner in which the State asked its questions permitted the elucidation of the issue of death qualification. The State started its questioning to determine whether the veniremembers would allow the thought of having to determine whether a death sentence would be imposed upon a conviction for first degree murder would affect the guilty phase deliberations in any manner. (ST. 42-43) From there, the State inquired how the deliberations would be affected. (ST. 44) Finally, the State inquired whether the veniremembers would hold the State to a higher standard of proof in other cases. (ST. 44) Through this method of questioning, Ms. Levin admitted that she would hold the State to a burden of proof higher than in other cases. Immediately on the heels of this question, Mr. 44) (ST. Kozakowski answered the State's question whether he would have to be "totally and irrevocably" convinced by saying, "Convinced, yes." (ST. 44-45) As such, while the veniremembers may not have had the standard by which the State's burden of proof was measured, they were agreeing that they would apply a higher standard of proof than in other cases, which does disqualify those veniremembers under Witt. As the questioning was proper, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise a nonmeritorious objection to this questioning. Kokal v. Dugger,

718 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. 1998); Groover v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424, 425 (Fla. 1995); Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 2d 107, 111 (Fla. 1995); Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992).

Moreover, when one veniremember expressed concern over the definition of reasonable doubt, counsel did object and request that the reasonable doubt instruction be read. (ST. 49) The trial court responded by reading the standard jury instruction on reasonable doubt. (ST. 49-50) As counsel did successfully object, he cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to do so. *Strickland*. Thus, the lower court would have properly summarily denied this claim had it been raised.

Moreover, the State did not then segue into racial bias. (ST. 50-51) Instead, the State inquired if having the reasonable doubt instruction read affected any of the veniremembers prior responses. (ST. 50-51) None of the veniremembers indicated that it changed their responses in any way. (ST. 51) In fact, later in voir dire, Mr. Kozakowski stated that the State "better prove it to me." (ST. 72) As such, Defendant cannot show that had the reasonable doubt instruction been requested and read earlier, any of the veniremembers' responses would have been different. He cannot, therefore, show that there is a reasonable probability that an earlier request for the

instruction would have affected the composition of the jury, let alone the result of the proceeding. *Strickland*. As such, this claim would have ben properly summarily denied had it been raised.

The issue of racial prejudice instead arose because one veniremember did respond to the question regarding whether hearing the reasonable doubt instruction affected any prior answer by stating that she had been the victim of a crime committed by an African-American. (ST. 51) Given the manner in which the veniremember raised the issue, the State asked follow up questions, which were particularly appropriate given that Defendant is African-American. (ST. 51-53) The veniremembers asking questions arose in much the same way: one veniremember asked a question pertinent to death qualification. The State then encouraged other veniremembers to express their concerns in the interest of getting as much information as possible from the venire. (ST. 54-56) As the manner in which these questions were asked allowed both parties to obtain information about the veniremembers and did not result in the improper disqualification of any veniremember, Defendant has not shown how counsel was deficient for not objecting to these inquiries or how any alleged deficiency result in any prejudice to him. Strickland. Thus, the claim would have been properly summarily

denied had it been raised.

Defendant next appears to contend that counsel should have required the State to explain what aggravating and mitigating circumstances were and how the weighing process works. However, counsel did object and request that the trial court explain how the penalty phase worked. (ST. 63-64) The trial court responded by generally explaining how the process worked. (ST. 63-64) When asked to provide further instruction, the trial court refused. (ST. 64) Given that the trial court refused and that the purpose of voir dire is not to pretry the case or instruct the venire on the law, see Franqui v. State, 699 So. 2d 1312, 1322 (Fla. 1997), Defendant has not shown that counsel's failure to raise another objection that would have been overruled could be deemed ineffective. Kokal, 718 So. 2d at 143; Groover, 656 So. 2d at 425; Hildwin, 654 So. 2d at 111; Breedlove, 595 So. 2d at 11. The claim would have been properly denied had it been raised.

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